Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-8-2018

Thurston Enterprises, Inc. v. Safeguard Business Systems, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45092

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves an action by Respondent Thurston Enterprises, Inc. ("<u>Thurston</u>") for breach of contract, breach of good faith and fair dealing, and fraud against Appellant Safeguard Business Systems, Inc. ("<u>SBS</u>"). This appeal seeks to correct legal errors that resulted in a trial prejudiced against SBS and a \$6.8 million judgment—much of it for punitive damages on a breach of contract—that is not supported by the evidence.

SBS is a Dallas-based company engaged in selling products to small businesses through a nationwide network of 260+ distributors who are given: (i) the right to use "Safeguard" trademarks and intellectual property, (ii) a broad range of business support and resources, (iii) commissions of 30-35% on completed sales, and (iv) an exclusive right to commissions on sales of certain defined products to new accounts first established as a direct result of the distributor's efforts (i.e., "account protection"). In 2013, an affiliate of SBS acquired two companies in the Pacific Northwest that historically made sales in Idaho to some organizations also previously served in small part by Thurston, an existing Safeguard distributor. SBS sought to negotiate a resolution with Thurston as to account protection rights in the relatively few overlapping organizations. The parties reached a partial resolution (which Thurston now claims was fraudulently induced by an omission it knew about), then Thurston stopped negotiating and brought suit. Due to an erroneously broad interpretation of "account protection" by the District Court, Thurston obtained a verdict not only for the gross profits on the acquired businesses' sales but also a duplicative "two-thirds" destruction of Thurston's entire value as a going concern. With speculative future losses for 8+ years and punitive damages added on top, Thurston ended up with a \$6.8 million judgment despite never having lost a single dollar of its own historical sales and, in fact, doing better and earning more after the acquisitions than before. [See R. 19598.] This Court should reverse the legal errors that facilitated such a disproportionate result.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

On August 26, 2014, a different Safeguard distributor in Idaho, T3 Enterprises, Inc. ("T3"), initiated this suit alleging contract and various tort claims. [R. 56.] Thurston joined by way of amended complaint in September 2014 [R. 273] and, together, the two Plaintiffs asserted seventeen (17) claims against eleven (11) defendants. Due to an arbitration clause in T3's contract, the District Court severed T3's claims against SBS for arbitration and allowed Thurston's claims (as well as T3's claims against other defendants) to proceed in court. [R. 994.]

For two years thereafter, Thurston's attorneys engaged in excessive discovery that included more than six hundred (600) document requests and thirty (30) days of depositions. [See R. 10262 (¶ 14), 10273-77 (¶¶ 34-38).] Notwithstanding that effort, all but five claims against two defendants—SBS and its indirect parent, Deluxe Corporation ("Deluxe")—were eventually dismissed. Along the way, the District Court made key legal errors challenged here, including: (i) on March 24, 2016, rejecting attorney-client privilege for internal communications by SBS's in-house counsel [R. 2219-27]; (ii) on September 21, 2016, allowing Thurston to seek punitive damages for breach of contract [R. 5752-78]; and, (iii) on October 21, 2016, ruling that SBS breached Thurston's right to account protection as a matter of law. [R. 5791-5833.]

On October 28, 2016, Thurston filed a Fourth Amended Complaint with three claims against SBS (Count 1 for breach of contract; Count 2 for good faith-fair dealing; Count 12 for fraudulent inducement), and two tortious interference claims against Deluxe. [R. 6062-79.]

Beginning on November 29, 2016, the District Court held a three-week jury trial of the claims [see R. 44-47] where, at the outset—before opening arguments—the jury was instructed that SBS violated Thurston's account protection rights. [Tr. Vol. I at 156:22:157:8; R. 9087.]

2

¹ SBS separately appeals an arbitration award in favor of T3 (see Docket No. 45093-2017).

The jury went on to exonerate Deluxe in full, but held SBS liable on all counts, awarding \$1.6 million in compensatory damages and an additional \$4.75 million in punitive damages (more than \$3 million supported only by breach of contract damages). [See generally R. 9128-38.]

On January 13, 2017, after reducing the punitive award slightly to comply with I.C. § 6-1604(3)'s statutory cap [see R. 9139-41], the District Court entered judgment for Thurston and dismissed Deluxe with prejudice. [R. 9143.] SBS timely sought post-judgment relief ("JNOV") [R. 9145-87] while Thurston requested \$2.5 million more in "multiplied" fees and costs. [R. 9663-10165.] On March 24, 2017, all grounds for JNOV were denied on the basis that, although the District Court did not necessarily agree with all aspects of the verdict, it would allow the jury to infer certain losses (such as a destruction of Thurston's business and fraud the District Court acknowledged Thurston knew about) while reaffirming its contract and punitive damage rulings. [See R. 12718-37.] On May 5, 2017, the District Court awarded \$758,593.74 in fees and costs to Thurston [R. 12907-32] and entered a final judgment of \$6,792,649.74. [R. 12934-36.] SBS timely appealed on May 5, 2017 (amended August 16, 2017). [R. 12998-13122, 13630-13829].

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For much of its 62-year history, SBS's network of 260+ nationwide distributors have acted as commissioned sales agents² that solicit small businesses to purchase low-volume orders of paper products (*e.g.*, checks, envelopes, and forms) by way of bank referral and other traditional sales methods. [*See* Tr. Vol, I at 1089:20-1090:20.] Thurston Enterprises, Inc., an Idaho corporation owned by Roger Thurston ("Mr. Thurston"), has operated pursuant to that model since 1987 under an Interim Regional Distributor Agreement (the "Interim Distributor")

² Once a customer places an order with a distributor, SBS handles all other aspects of a sale—*e.g.*, invoicing, shipping, collecting payment, guarantees, returns—and a commission is remitted to the distributor. [*See* Tr. Vol. I at 498:6-22, 501:9-502:11, Tr. Vol. II at 1537:2-1538:9.]

Agreement"). [See Ex. 8; Tr. Vol. II at 1763:15-1764:8.] Indeed, as Mr. Thurston testified, his company has around 4,000 accounts that each order \$200 of product per year. [See Tr. Vol. II 1768:24-1769:9.] The Interim Distributor Agreement—which had a 5-year term that was never renewed [see Ex. 8 at 8.6 (¶ 7(A))]—gave Thurston a right to use Safeguard trademarks and solicit the order of defined products in return for a 30-35% commission on sales, as well as thirty-six (36) months of "account protection" (i.e., a right to exclusive commissions) in regard to new accounts that Thurston was the first to successfully establish. [See Ex. 8 at 8.3 (¶ 3).]

The right of account protection is the central issue in this dispute. In general, it means that if a distributor makes a sale to the account of another, SBS will pay any commission due on that sale to the protected distributor (unofficially termed a "rotation"). [See Tr. Vol. I at 896:19-897:1; R. 5477-79.] The right originated in the 1970s when there was typically only one billing point for each small business customer and only one product category sold. [See Tr. Vol. I at 1084:14-1085:7; R. 5459-60, 5462-66.] Over time, it came to apply to larger organizations by protecting the commissions a distributor earned on the specific products it was first to successfully solicit from specific billing contacts within an organization. [See R. 5506-07; 5514-15, 5519-22, 5525-26.] Never has it applied to entire organizations by name alone since there may be multiple departments or locations with different billers (or different states and countries). As such, a distributor with protection as to one billing point in an organization (e.g., the pediatrics department of St. Luke's Hospital) is not entitled to commissions for sales by others to different billing points (e.g., the oncology department) or on sales of uniquely different products altogether. [See, e.g., Tr. Vol. I at 590:14-591:7, 1117:19-1118:3 (Thurston/T3 sold to different St. Luke's offices without claiming account protection).] Rather, the account protection right is specific to billing contacts and products, as determined by matching biller name, telephone, and ship-to address. [See Tr. Vol. I at 589:21-590:7, 1092:9-1093:3; R. 5464, 5496, 5506-07.]

Rather recently, SBS was faced with surviving a worldwide recession right at a time of significant changes in the industry. [Tr. Vol. I at 508:11-509:25, Tr. Vol. II at 2003:1-2004:16.] In order to adapt and preserve itself for all stakeholders, including the distributor network, SBS embarked on a series of "business acquisitions and mergers" (the "BAM" program) to increase sales and innovate. [Tr. Vol. I at 507:16-508:10, 510:1-511:2, 844:14-845:14, Tr. Vol. II at 2004:17-2005:6, 2006:17-2007:4.] Since 2008, SBS had acquired over sixty (60) independent manufacturers/distributors across the country through the BAM program [Tr. Vol. I at 297:15-18, 848:10-12], with SBS successfully resolving all account protection issues along the way by negotiation. [See, e.g., Tr. Vol. I at 370:20-372:23.] That is, until this case.

In 2013, Safeguard Acquisitions Inc. ("SAI") purchased two large well-established companies in the Pacific Northwest: (i) Form Systems Inc. d/b/a DocuSource ("DocuSource") (on April 30, 2013) and (ii) Idaho Business Forms ("IBF") (on August 27, 2013). [See Tr. Vol. I at 251:13-20; 254:6-13.] Those two companies had long operated in some of the same areas of Idaho as Thurston (and elsewhere nationwide), but were focused on high-volume accounts and offered unique products/services not previously offered in the Safeguard network (certainly not by Thurston), such as medical ID bands, W-2 processing, drop shipping, and warehousing. [See Tr. Vol. I at 522:20-524:18, Tr. Vol. II at 1221:7-1223:12, 1225:15-19, 1228:2-23, 1230:2-1232:16, 1915:15-1916:5, 1923:3-1925:9.] As with all such acquisitions, due diligence was done under strict confidentiality terms [see Tr. Vol. I at 303:2-12] that allowed SBS to, among other things, conduct a preliminary "scrub" to estimate potential account protection overlaps with existing distributors. [Tr. Vol. I at 309:3-21, 337:12-338:4.] The legal department analyzed that risk [Tr. Vol. I at 1133:21-1134:10] and SBS elected to move forward based on the fact it had always been able to negotiate reasonable resolutions in the past [see Tr. Vol. I at 371:8-21, 519:6-18, 531:18-533:10, 846:25-848:15; see also Ex. 48 at 48.9, 544:19-545:3] by offering to

buy, share, or swap accounts with distributors in the way that best served the end customers. [Tr. Vol. I at 384:6-17, 594:2-595:3, 1093:7-1097:10.] In that process, the sales of one distributor were not shared with others because: (i) sales data is confidential [Tr. Vol. I at 955:25-956:3, 1045:23-1046:13; Tr. Vol. II at 1240:11-17] and (ii) a distributor's account protection rights are valued based on the historical sales made by *that distributor itself*, not that amount plus sales others might be capable of making to the same organization. [See Tr. Vol. I at 1096:18-1097:1.]

Soon after the DocuSource/IBF acquisitions, SBS's General Counsel (Michael Dunlap) contacted Roger Thurston to inform him and start the process of account protection resolution, as he had many times. [Tr. Vol. I at 855:4-9, 862:11-25; 1097:22-1098:6; Ex. 68 at 68.2.] Mr. Thurston was understandably concerned how the IBF acquisition, in particular, could affect his business since both companies are based in Boise. Nevertheless, as a sophisticated businessman, he agreed to engage in an "arm's length" negotiation. [Tr. Vol. II at 1871:16-20, 1874:3-7.]

In the meantime, DocuSource and IBF continued servicing their same historical accounts as always, only doing so as Safeguard-affiliated outlets.³ [Tr. Vol. II at 1242:15-23, 1935:25-1936:11.] Some of their ongoing sales after acquisition were to the same overall organizations for which Thurston had account-level protection for its own billing contacts as to traditional products [see Tr. Vol. II at 1937:20-1938:13], but, due to the different billing contacts and products involved, there was effectively no direct head-to-head competition. [Tr. Vol. I at 960:8-22, Tr. Vol. II at 1991:23-1992:10.] Indeed, there was no evidence at trial that Thurston lost a single dollar of its historical sales due to the acquisitions. [See Tr. Vol. II at 1624:9-13.] Rather,

_

³ Although owned by a Safeguard affiliate (SAI), IBF was staffed and operated by a different company, KMMR, which in May 2015 purchased IBF and began operating it as an independent contract distributor. [*See* Tr. Vol. II at 1234:5-1235:5, 1934:5-8.] DocuSource did the same until transitioned to its current owner, Inspired Results. [Tr. Vol. II at 1987:12-17, 2018:16-20.]

everyone continued taking orders from their own billing contacts the same as before and, in fact, Thurston increased its profits doing so. [Tr. Vol. II at 1895:17-25, 1897:25-1898:18; *see also* R. 19598.] In addition, the organizational overlap was not particularly large, with the amount of Thurston's business theoretically impacted being 99⁴ out of 4,000 claimed overlaps.

From February to May 2014, Dunlap (SBS's General Counsel) exchanged emails and phone calls with Mr. Thurston regarding organizations identified as overlapping based on postacquisition sales by IBF, to determine which could be resolved by purchasing account protection rights. [Tr. Vol. I at 865:14-866:7; Exs. 1036-1078.] In doing so, Dunlap did not provide any information on the pre- or post-acquisition dollar amount of sales by IBF and, conversely, did not provide IBF with Thurston's sales figures. [Tr. Vol. I at 901:15-25, 955:21-956:3, 973:18-21, 1045:23-1046:13; Tr. Vol. II at 1240:11-17, 1827:13-18.] In some instances, the difference was somewhat substantial due to IBF's greater size and focus – such as \$158,000 that IBF sold to its contact at Omnipure in 2012 as compared to the \$100 Thurston sold to its own contact there. [Tr. Vol. II at 1804:18-1805:13, 1870:15-17.] At the same time, SBS did not pay commissions to Thurston on the sales being made by DocuSource/IBF to overlapping organizations, despite recognizing a potential risk the account protection right could be construed so broadly. [See Tr. Vol. I at 873:8-874:8; 881:24-882:25.] Rather, until the District Court's summary judgment ruling—which SBS maintains was incorrect—SBS viewed the right as legally and historically narrower [see R. 5392, 5399-5403, 5409-14] and hoped to negotiate a mutually-agreeable resolution with Thurston as it had in connection with 60+ prior acquisitions.

⁻

⁴ Thurston's expert, Robert Taylor, initially claimed 116 overlaps. [R. 3726-27 (identifying 113 with IBF), R. 3832 (3 with DocuSource).] He later acknowledged being incorrect as to at least 17 of those [see R. 3704 (¶ 16)], leaving 99 claimed overlaps.

The contemporaneous emails reflect that, although Mr. Thurston was not given the dollar amounts of IBF's sales, he was well aware that IBF was continuing to make sales to overlapping organizations. [See Tr. Vol. II at 1873:17-23; Ex. 244 (Mr. Thurston writing to Dunlap at the time: "[s]ince the client list we have been going through is based on sales since August 27th [the exact date of IBF's acquisition] ...") (emphasis added).] At trial, however, Mr. Thurston claimed he "assumed" there were no ongoing sales by DocuSource/IBF because he was not receiving commissions for those sales [Tr. Vol. II at 1825:23-1826:12, 1828:24-1829:5], although stating as well that he requested details on the amount of the very sales he claimed not to know about and that Dunlap simply obfuscated as to his ability to provide that information. [See Tr. Vol. II at 1818:8-1819:3, 1829:6-9; but see id. at 1874:14-1875:8.] Even more revealing is the fact that Mr. Thurston negotiated an amount significantly higher than his company's sales in regard to at least one organization [see Tr. Vol. II at 1877:12-13 (\$27,000 for Norco)] on the basis that, in his words at the time, "IBF pretty much has touched almost everything else there and there really isn't much left for my office." [Ex. 240; Tr. Vol. II at 1875:15-1878:10, 1808:13-16.]

Regardless, both sides fully concur that <u>no</u> dollar figures for IBF's pre- or post-acquisition sales were provided to Thurston. [Tr. Vol. II at 1796:10-23, 1827:13-18; *see also* Tr. Vol. I at 901:15-25.] Nonetheless, on March 6, 2014, Thurston agreed to sell any account protection rights it had to nine organizations⁵ for \$32,600 and executed a document

_

⁵ Thurston did not agree to sell its rights to other organizations identified by Dunlap for negotiation. [Tr. Vol. II at 1825:20-25.] Dunlap indicated he would get IBF to transfer its customer files for the non-sold organizations to Thurston, but later found out from IBF's managers those accounts had special circumstances (*e.g.*, W-2 processing, medical ID bands, contractual arrangements Thurston could not assume or fulfill). [See Tr. Vol. II at 1251:10-1252:6.] Either way, no file transfer was made a part of the March 2014 agreement and, as a result, the District Court correctly dismissed Thurston's claim for breach of contract in that regard. [R. 5826-28.] That dismissal was not appealed and is now final.

acknowledging that was a "resolution" of all account protection as to those organizations. [Ex. 1063.] Thurston knowingly valued that sale based on its own sales figures. [Tr. Vol. II at 1870:3-14, 1873:17-1874:2, 1885:14-20.] Yet, the contention made late in the suit [see R. 2307 (June 13, 2016)] is that Thurston was defrauded because it would have demanded hundreds of thousands more had it known the specific dollar amounts of IBF's sales. [Tr. Vol. II at 1830:4-1831:2.]

After the March 2014 agreement, Dunlap engaged with Mr. Thurston to discuss additional organizations identified as overlapping based, again, on the known ongoing sales by IBF. [See Ex. 308.] In that second round of negotiations, Mr. Thurston requested in writing for the first time that, "going forward," he receive the dollar amounts for sales being made by IBF to the organizations at issue, which Dunlap provided. [See Exs. 309, 311; Tr. Vol. I at 1127:20-1128:4, Tr. Vol. II at 1886:15-1889:1.] Emails and calls were exchanged through June 2014 until Mr. Thurston stopped responding and later appeared in T3's suit (in September 2014).

Additional facts relevant to highlight are: (i) for purposes of the future damages awarded, it is undisputed that DocuSource ceased all business in Idaho by October 2015—well prior to trial—when its Idaho representative resigned [Tr. Vol. II at 1992:11-1993:19, 2018:24-2019:16; see also R. 3834-60]; (ii) Thurston remained a distributor during trial (as it does today) [Tr. Vol. II at 1751:1-3]; and (iii) Thurston's own profits continually grew each year after the acquisitions. [See R. 19598, Ex. 1086, Tr. Vol. II at 1895:17-25, 1897:25-1898:18.]

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the District Court's account protection ruling was an error that mandates reversal of the judgment for Thurston.
- 2. Whether the District Court's ruling on SBS's attorney-client privilege was an error that mandates reversal of the judgment for Thurston.

- 3. Whether the District Court erred in denying post-judgment relief that there was not substantial "clear and convincing" evidence of fraud, and should dismiss the claim in full.
- 4. Whether the District Court erred in denying post-judgment relief that there is not a "pricing" (or product cost) guarantee in the contract, and should dismiss the claim in full.
- 5. Whether the District Court erred as to the good faith-fair dealing claim, and should dismiss the claim in full, due to: (a) not granting SBS's summary judgment on the claim; (b) allowing Thurston to submit an undisclosed damages theory at trial; or (c) denying post-judgment relief that there was insufficient evidence to support the claim.
- 6. Whether, in the circumstances of this case, the District Court erred in sustaining an award of punitive damages for breach of contract, and should strike all such damages.
- 7. Whether the District Court erred in denying post-judgment relief that sought to eliminate the future losses for 8+ years, and should strike the damages awarded for future losses.
- 8. Whether the attorneys' fees awarded by the District Court should be remanded for reduction of all amounts related to any errors overturned by this appeal.
 - 9. Whether SBS should be granted its costs and attorneys' fees on appeal.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issues 1 and 5(a) involve summary judgment rulings, for which the standard of review is the same as applied by the trial court on a motion for summary judgment. *Lettunich v. Key Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, 141 Idaho 362, 366, 109 P.3d 1104, 1108 (2005). However, "[w]hen questions of law are presented, this Court exercises free review and is not bound by findings of the district court but is free to draw its own conclusions from the evidence presented." *Id*.

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