Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-3-2018

Thurston Enterprises, Inc. v. Safeguard Business Systems, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45092

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

Safeguard also argues that the addendums do not include every Safeguard product and service. However, as found by the District Court, the language of the addendums, particularly addendum no. 87, "clearly incorporate current and future products that are offered through Safeguard or its Preferred Suppliers, including Deluxe." Order, p. 22; see also Vol III, Tr. 308:24-315:11 (describing addendum). Safeguard conceded this. Vol III, Tr. 353:23-354:12; 365:15-366:20 (Safeguard's counsel was unable to identify a single product or service that did

⁷ Addendum No. 8 for "Sourced or Brokerage Products" applies to products "not manufactured or offered by Safeguard" which was every product as Safeguard had discontinued manufacturing by this time. Ex. 8 at 8.22; R.4432-33. Further, the Expanded Product Acknowledgement provided that distributors "may solicit orders" for any Safeguard products. Ex. 8 at 8.26.

not fall under "Safeguard Systems" as defined in Thurston's addenda and conceded that "I don't believe it's at issue"). There was no dispute in connection with the Motion for Summary Judgment. Vol. III, Tr. 308:24-309:5. Thus, not only does Safeguard's argument lack merit, it was waived. *See Kolar v. Cassia Cty. Idaho*, 142 Idaho 346, 350, 127 P.3d 962, 966 (2005).

The Court could decide that the Account Protection provisions of the Thurston

Distributor Agreement were breached on account of the language being unambiguous. *See Miller*v. Estate of Prater, 141 Idaho 208, 212, 108 P.3d 355, 359 (2005). In so doing the Court did not need to consider extrinsic evidence. *See Howard v. Perry*, 141 Idaho 139, 141, 106 P.3d 465, 467 (2005). Thus, the District Court's ruling should be affirmed.

Safeguard's remaining argument is that the word "customer" was ambiguous on a latent basis and thus summary judgment was not proper. However, Safeguard did not argue to the District Court that the term "customer" was ambiguous. *See* R. 5410-5415, R, 5808-14. Instead, Safeguard simply stated in the fact section that it started selling to businesses with different departments. *See* R. 5401, 5413-14. Now, Safeguard argues that "customer" should have been defined as only a portion or department of a business entity (e.g. the pediatrics department of St. Luke's Hospital). Consequently, that argument is waived. *Kolar*, 142 Idaho at 350.

The argument also lacks merit. The word "customer" is unambiguous by its plain language. The fact that the word "customer" is repeatedly used rather than a subcategory such as department or billing point or billing contact evidences that "customer" encompasses the entire business. *See e.g. Mattheis by Vowinkel v. Heritage Mut. Ins. Co.*, 487 N.W.2d 52, 54 (Ct. App. 1992) (concluding that "customer" is not ambiguous and that "[a] term is not ambiguous merely

because it is general enough to encompass more than one option.") Further, it was undisputed that in the vast majority of instances, Safeguard was, through IBF and DocuSource, selling to the same exact customer. *See e.g.* Exhs. 534-535. Thus, Safeguard's "customer" interpretation argument went to the amount of damages not whether there was liability in the first place.

Even if parol evidence was considered, there was not sufficient evidence to establish a triable issue of fact. *See Corbridge v. Clark Equip. Co.*, 112 Idaho 85, 87, 730 P.2d 1005, 1007 (1986) (a "mere scintilla of evidence" is insufficient). Safeguard presented no parol evidence, meaning evidence of prior or contemporaneous discussions in 1987 which would have clarified any perceived latent ambiguity in the Agreement. *See Knipe Land Co. v. Robertson*, 151 Idaho 449, 455, 259 P.3d 595, 601 (2011) ("Where the facts in existence reveal a latent ambiguity in a contract, the court seeks to determine what the intent of the parties was at the time they entered into the contract.") *Simons v. Simons*, 134 Idaho 824, 828, 11 P.3d 20, 24 (2000).

All Safeguard provided at the summary judgment level, was self-serving testimony from Safeguard executives, who were not around when the Agreement was executed. Safeguard's "made for litigation" interpretations were disingenuous and contradicted by Safeguard's rotation notices, customer scrub activities⁸ and admissions in deposition. ⁹ As the District Court found,

_

⁸ See R. 4435-36, 4484-4669 (Thurston's rotation notices); R. 17735, 17772-73, 17789 at p. 350:10-19 (historical practice at Safeguard was to rotate commissions on sales of all Safeguard Systems); R. 17737, R. 17923-58 (Safeguard kept detailed and updated logs evidencing their breach (sales to that customer) without regard to product).

⁹ Safeguard's general counsel Michael Dunlap himself admitted that Thurston had the exclusive right to solicit and sell Safeguard Systems to his customers (R. 17735, 17772-73, 17784-86 at pp. 159:24-161:18), Thurston cannot be forced to share his customers (R. 17784-86 at 159:24-160:8,

although the nature of Safeguard's business developed, "Safeguard cannot reasonably argue that *its own* post-contract conduct creates a latent ambiguity in the contract language." R. 5813; *see also Mind & Motion Utah Inv., LLC v. Celtic Bank Corp.*, 367 P.3d 994, 1005 (Utah 2016). Safeguard's other factual arguments (*see* pp. 14-15), made without citation, should be disregarded. *See Harris v. Dep't of Health & Welfare*, 123 Idaho 295, 298, 847 P.2d 1156, 1159 (1992). For these reasons, the District Court's ruling should be affirmed.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY RULED ON ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE

In response to Safeguard concealing documents in discovery through the improper use of the attorney-client privilege designation, Thurston filed a motion to compel the production of the withheld documents. After the motion was filed, Safeguard and parent company Deluxe withdrew their claim of privilege as to hundreds of documents. R. 1863-1871, 13129-13269. They maintained a privilege as to only 41 documents. R. 2219 at fn. 2. After an in-camera review, the District Court held that 35 of those 41 documents had to be produced. R. 2226-27.

Safeguard argues that 21 trial exhibits fall under the attorney-client privilege, shouldn't have been produced and that they prejudiced Safeguard at the trial. However, only seven of the exhibits Safeguard discusses were subject to the District Court's order. ¹⁰ Safeguard voluntarily produced the other 14 exhibits and therefore those exhibits cannot be subject to this appeal.

161:12-18) and that Safeguard distributors cannot solicit orders "that are the subject of the account protection rights of another Safeguard distributor" (R. 17778 at p. 36:13-25).

¹⁰ Trial Exhibits 157, 245, 267, 327, 336, 352, 356 were produced pursuant to the District Court's Order. This can be verified by comparing the bates numbers on the exhibits as compared to the bates numbers identified in the District Court's Order. R. 2226-27. Trial Exhibits 266, 268-270, 326, 328-330, 338, 357-360 and 362 were not subject to the Order.

A. Safeguard Waived the Right to Appeal on Privilege Grounds

To maintain its privilege objection, Safeguard was required to object to the admission of the seven exhibits at issue at trial. *See Kirk v. Ford Motor Co.*, 141 Idaho 697, 701, 116 P.3d 27, 31 (2005) ("[T]he moving party is required to continue to object as the evidence is presented".) Not only did Safeguard not object, Safeguard stipulated to the admission of all seven exhibits. Vol. I, Tr. 228:9-230:4. Safeguard thereby waived any previous objection. *State v. Gray*, 129 Idaho 784, 794, 932 P.2d 907, 917 (Ct. App. 1997) ("Agreeing to the admission of evidence... is a waiver of the prior objection.")¹¹

B. The District Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Ordering Production

Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure 26(b)(1) permits discovery over any relevant matter that is not privileged. "The trial court has broad discretion in determining whether or not to grant a motion to compel." *Nightengale v. Timmel*, 151 Idaho 347, 351, 256 P.3d 755, 759 (2011). A decision "will only be reversed where there has been a clear abuse of discretion." *Quigley v. Kemp*, 162 Idaho 408, 410, 398 P.3d 141, 143 (2017)

Rules of Evidence 502(b) describes the attorney-client privilege as "a privilege to refuse to disclose and to prevent any other person from disclosing [1] confidential communications [2] made for the purpose of facilitating the rendition of professional legal services to the client.

I.R.E. 502(b). "The burden of showing information is privileged, and therefore exempt from

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 25

1:

¹¹ Safeguard also waived any claim of privilege as to Safeguard's General Counsel Michael Dunlap's communications based on its discovery productions. *See* I.R.E. 510, *PaineWebber Grp., Inc. v. Zinsmeyer Trusts P'ship*, 187 F.3d 988, 992 (8th Cir. 1999). Safeguard withdrew the privilege as to 90% of Dunlap's communications and of the 21 exhibits Safeguard contends fall under the attorney-client privilege, Safeguard voluntarily produced 14 of them.

discovery, is on the party asserting the privilege." *Kirk*, 141 Idaho at 704. With regard to inhouse counsel communications, they are generally not presumed to be made for the purpose of providing legal advice, rather than business advice. *Dewitt v. Walgreen Co.*, No. 4:11–cv–00263–BLW, 2012 WL 3837764, at *3 (D. Idaho Sept. 4, 2012), *citing United States v. Chevron Texaco Corp.*, 241 F. Supp. 2d 1065, 1076 (N.D. Cal. 2002). This presumption does not vitiate the attorney-client privilege. Instead, it aligns with the attorney-client privilege in general, as the "privilege impedes the truth-finding process and must be strictly construed". *Id.* at *2.

The District Court was very familiar with Dunlap's role from the parties' voluminous briefing throughout the case. R. 2226. In this context, the District Court made the factual finding that Dunlap "was extensively involved in business aspects of [Safeguard], including monitoring cross-over customer sales and commissions and corresponding with [Teply and Thurston] regarding the extent of [Teply and Thurston's] cross-over customers." R. 2226. Similarly, Dunlap testified that he was not acting in a legal role when he was communicating with Teply (or Thurston) regarding cross-over customers. Tr. Vol. I at 887:13-18, 892:3-11. Indeed, Dunlap's responsibilities at issue were historically handled by Safeguard's business development and regional support managers. Tr. Vol. II at 1792:12-1794:2, 2032:5-2033:6.

None of the seven exhibits at issue implicate the attorney-client privilege as defined in I.R.E. 502(b). Many of the exhibits simply represent facts being communicated. Exhibit 327 contains an email from McLaughlin to Dunlap wherein she identifies the amount of sales to certain cross-over customers. Dunlap then forwards the email to Sorrenti and notes that Teply may request all commissions paid to IBF on her cross-over customers just like another

distributor, the Strongs were claiming. Exhibit 336 contains emails between Michael Dunlap and JJ Sorrenti wherein they discuss the fact that Dawn Teply is not interested in sharing her customers or selling them but wants the sales info on IBF's sales to those customers. Exhibit 352 contains an email from Dunlap to JJ Sorrenti where he complains that McLaughlin is not being responsive to his requests. Exhibit 356 contains communications from Teply where she refuses to schedule a meeting until Safeguard shows a commitment to resolve Account Protection issues.

Communications consisting of purely factual information, without any legal advice, or not for the purpose of facilitating legal services, are not privileged. *See In re Grand Jury Proceedings*, 616 F.3d at 1182 ("when an attorney conveys to his client facts acquired from other persons or sources, those facts are not privileged."); *Dewitt*, 2012 WL 3837764 at *3. Dunlap's communications with regard to Teply or McLaughlin's inquiries regarding cross-over customer sales and commissions are factual in nature. Dunlap was not providing legal services.

The other exhibits are also not privileged. Exhibit 157 contains an email from Dunlap to Safeguard employee Amy Tiller-Shumway. Dunlap tells Tiller-Shumway that she can "tell Distributor Accounting that if there is a conflict with legacy distributors, the rule applies and it rotates to the legacy distributor". Ex. 157. This repeats the business policy in place at Safeguard Distributor Accounting of rotating commissions (regardless of product) to the party who first made a sale to that account. *Id.* Exhibit 245 regards an email from Safeguard non-legal employee Michelle Popelka to Dunlap with the note that she thought Dunlap was the one resolving issues with the cross-over accounts. Exhibit 267 contains communications between Sorrenti and Dunlap where they disagree on whether McLaughlin needs to transfer customer files to T3 and decide to

set up a meeting. None of the emails contain a request for legal advice and Dunlap is resolving the conflicts with regard to cross-over customers rather the analyzing what the Account Protection policy should be or any legal considerations. *Compare Ford*, 141 Idaho at 704 (the "Suspension Orders contained legal advice and recommendations related to pending litigation.")

Safeguard argues broadly that because Dunlap was a lawyer, these communications were done in the overall context of providing a legal service. However, "[t]he mere fact that an attorney was involved in a communication does not automatically render the communication subject to the attorney-client privilege," *In re Grand Jury Proceedings*, 616 F.3d 1172, 1182 (10th Cir. 2010). "[R]ather, the 'communication between a lawyer and client must relate to legal advice or strategy sought by the client". *Id.*; *United States v. Chen*, 99 F.3d 1495, 1501 (9th Cir. 1996) ("The privilege applies only when legal advice is sought 'from a professional legal advisor in his capacity as such.'"). Where a lawyer, such as Dunlap, tenders advice regarding a business decision, "the non-legal aspects of the decision are not protected simply because legal considerations also are involved." *Adams v. United States*, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 53533, *3-4 (D. Idaho July 3, 2008); *Cedillo v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 163 Idaho 131, 408 P.3d 886, 896 (2017) (Burdick, C.J., dissenting) ("quasi-fiduciary tasks of investigating and evaluating or processing the claim" were not privileged, only counsel's evaluation as to potential liability).¹²

In Re Human Tissue Products Liability Litigation, 255 F.R.D. 151, 161 (D. N.J. 2008) is

¹² Chevron Texaco Corp., 241 F. Supp. 2d at 1076 ("Corporations may not conduct their business affairs in private simply by staffing a transaction with attorneys."); see also Oasis Int'l Waters, Inc. v. United States, 110 Fed. Cl. 87, 98 (2013) (privilege "does not apply when an attorney acts as a client's business or economic advisor").

illustrative. There, the court found that documents relating to the lawyers' tasks on that assignment pertained to business matters, rather than legal services because: (1) "none of the documents appear to contain any legal research or analysis"; and (2) the work could have as easily been performed by non-lawyers. The same can be said for Dunlap's role here. As Dunlap's concern has to do with his negotiations with the parties as to who would service which customers, rather than any legal issues, the documents have no privilege ramifications.

C. The Seven Exhibits Did Not Have a Prejudicial Effect

"[W]hen appealing from an evidentiary ruling reviewed for abuse of discretion, the appellant must demonstrate both the trial court's abuse of discretion and that the error affected a substantial right." *Hurtado v. Land O'Lakes, Inc.*, 153 Idaho 13, 18, 278 P.3d 415, 420 (2012). Even if some of the seven documents at issue were privileged, any error was harmless. The exhibits at issue largely regard Teply and not Thurston. None of the exhibits were dispositive of any issue of liability nor were they evidence of fraudulent and oppressive conduct, upon which the punitive damages were awarded. Thurston introduced over 300 exhibits into evidence. The other exhibits more than presented grounds upon which the jury's verdict lies. Therefore, any error is harmless. *See e.g. Naccarato v. Vill. of Priest River*, 68 Idaho 368, 372, 195 P.2d 370, 373 (1948) ("Error, if any, in admitting irrelevant or improper testimony is harmless where the fact which is intended to be proved thereby is fully shown by other evidence...")

III. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE FRAUD VERDICT

The District Court correctly denied Safeguard's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict as to the fraud claim. Thurston provided substantial evidence for that claim including:

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